FILED

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 7 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

FRANK VALDES,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 76,569

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

(On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Palm Beach County, Florida)

JOSEPH S. KARP, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 238351 Attorney for Appellant Post Office Box 3225 West Palm Beach, FL 33402 Telephone: (407) 686-4600

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- ISSUE I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE A PROPER INQUIRY INTO THE EFFECTIVENESS OF COURT APPOINTED COUNSEL AND IN FAILING TO GIVE APPELLANT PROPER ADVICE REGARDING HIS RIGHT OF REPRESENTATION, THEREBY PREJUDICING APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE COUNSEL
- ISSUE II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISCHARGE HIS APPOINTED ATTORNEYS WITHOUT SUFFICIENT INQUIRY INTO THE GROUNDS ALLEGED IN THE MOTION, THEREBY PREJUDICING APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE COUNSEL
- ISSUE III. WHETHER THE DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF A DISINTERESTED ATTORNEY TO REPRESENT HIM AT THE "EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL" HEARING WAS ERROR BECAUSE APPELLANT'S PRESENT COUNSEL WAS NOT COMPETENT TO REPRESENT APPELLANT AT THAT HEARING DUE TO A CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND BECAUSE IT LEFT APPELLANT UNREPRESENTED AT A CRITICAL STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS
- ISSUE IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO EXCUSE FOR CAUSE TWO PROSPECTIVE JURORS WHOSE STATE OF MIND PRECLUDED THEM FROM RENDERING A VERDICT SOLELY ON THE EVIDENCE AND THE LAW
- ISSUE V. WHETHER THE FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS OF THE PROCEEDINGS WAS FRUSTRATED WHEN THE COURT ORDERED THAT APPELLANT BE SEQUESTERED IN AN UNNECESSARILY RESTRICTIVE FASHION DURING A CRITICAL STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS, OUT OF THE REACH OF HIS ATTORNEYS
- ISSUE VI. WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONVICTION OF ARMED ROBBERY CONSTITUTES DOUBLE JEOPARDY
- ISSUE VII. WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONVICTION OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER IS CONTRARY TO THE LAW BECAUSE APPELLANT WAS IMPROPERLY CHARGED WITH ARMED ROBBERY, AN ENUMERATED FELONY, RATHER THAN THE CRIME HE ACTUALLY COMMITTED, WHICH IS NOT AN ENUMERATED FELONY

- ISSUE VIII. WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONVICTION OF ARMED ROBBERY IS CONTRARY TO THE LAW
- ISSUE IX. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO COUNT XI, AGGRAVATED ASSAULT, BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT ESTABLISH BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE APPELLANT DID ANY ACTS IN FURTHERANCE THEREOF
- ISSUE X. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO COUNT XII, AIDING ESCAPE
- ISSUE XI. WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONVICTION UNDER COUNTS V-X, SIX COUNTS OF ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE MURDER, IS ERROR BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE CONVICTIONS IS INSUFFICIENT
- ISSUE XII. WHETHER IT IS FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR TO CONVICT APPELLANT OF SIX COUNTS OF ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE MURDER
- ISSUE XIII. WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE PROCEEDINGS WAS PREJUDICED BY THE TRIAL COURT'S ERROR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S PRE-TRIAL MOTION TO DISCHARGE APPOINTED COUNSEL
- ISSUE XIV. WHETHER APPELLANT WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE PENALTY PHASE BECAUSE THE RECORD SHOWS THAT EVIDENCE OF MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES EXISTED, BUT APPELLANT'S ATTORNEYS FAILED TO FULLY DEVELOP AND PRESENT IT
- ISSUE XV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A CONTINUANCE OF THE PENALTY PHASE PROCEEDINGS, WHERE APPELLANT'S ATTORNEYS STATED THAT THEY WERE UNPREPARED TO PROCEED
- ISSUE XVI. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER

- ISSUE XVII. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THE MITIGATING FACTOR THAT APPELLANT WAS UNDER THE SUBSTANTIAL DOMINATION AND CONTROL OF ANOTHER PERSON AT THE TIME OF THE MURDER
- ISSUE XVIII. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THE MITIGATING FACTOR THAT APPELLANT WAS AN ACCOMPLICE
- ISSUE XIX. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THE MITIGATING FACTOR THAT APPELLANT ACTED UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF AN EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE
- ISSUE XX. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF A JUROR WHO WOULD AUTOMATICALLY VOTE FOR THE DEATH PENALTY FOR A PERSON CONVICTED OF MURDER
- ISSUE XXI. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING OFFICER GAGLIONE'S TESTIMONY WHERE THE TESTIMONY IMPERMISSIBLY MISLED THE JURY

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS:

A. Statement of the Case.

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida.

In this Initial Brief, the Appellant will be referred to as "Valdes" and the Appellee as the "State". Reference to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "R", followed by the volume and page number; reference to the Supplemental Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "Supp. R.", followed by the volume and page number.

Frank Valdes was charged in a twelve (12) count indictment¹ as follows: Count I, first-degree murder (Officer Fred Griffis); Count II, armed robbery (Officer Steve Turner); Count III, attempted first-degree murder (Officer Steve Turner); Count IV, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon; Counts V-X, attempted first-degree murder, each count naming a different intended victim (Officers Richard Hines, Freddie Naranjo, Jeffrey Woodward, Dale Fell, Robert Provost and John Woods, respectively; Count XI, aggravated assault (Dr. Fred Brown); and Count XII, aiding the escape of a prisoner in lawful custody (James O'Brien). (R. 26/3957-63). Count IV, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, was severed prior to trial. (R. 8/1167).

Valdes was originally charged by indictment with two (2) co-defendants, William Van Poyck and James O'Brien. The original indictment, filed on July 14, 1987, was in 15 counts. (R. 22/3234-38). On July 20, 1988, O'Brien was severed for trial leaving Valdes and Van Poyck to be tried together. (R. 3/348). On August 4, 1988, Valdes was rejoined with O'Brien leaving Van Poyck to be tried alone. (Supp. R. 1/1-44). On January 9, 1989, on what was to be the first day of the Valdes/O'Brien trial, the court granted Vales' Motion for Severance from O'Brien. (R. 7/965). On October 24, 1989, the State refiled against Valdes the twelve count indictment discussed above. (R. 26/3957-63).

Valdes was found guilty on all counts by a jury. (R. 19/2865-67). In the sentencing phase, the jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of eight (8) to four (4) on Count I, first-degree murder. (R. 20/3101-02; 28/4369). On July 27, 1990, the Court sentenced Valdes to death for the murder of Officer Fred Griffis. (R. 21/3165; 28/4415-39). As to the remaining counts, the Court sentenced Valdes as follows: life, with a three (3) year mandatory minimum (Count II); seven (7) separate life sentences, without the possibility of parole for twenty-five (25) years, (Count III, Counts V-X); five (5) years, with a three (3) year mandatory minimum (Count XI); and fifteen (15) years (Count XII). The Court ordered all sentences to run consecutively. (R. 21/3165-3169).

B. Statement of the Facts.

1. The Guilt Phase

Mr. Valdes' Attorneys.

On May 29, 1990, the first day of jury selection in Frank Valdes' first degree murder trial, a hearing was held to determine the ability of Valdes' courtappointed attorneys to render effective assistance of counsel.² (R. 8/1293-94). Four days

² Initially, the public defender's office was appointed to represent Valdes. (R. 2/56). Almost four (4) months later, the public defender withdrew from Valdes' case because of a conflict with a potentially adverse witness that the public defender was appointed to represent before being appointed to the Valdes case. (R. 2/68-70).

Nelson Bailey, appointed as a special public defender, was allowed to withdraw from Valdes' case about three (3) months after his appointment. (R. 2/97-111; 22/3356-58; 23/3402).

Three months after Bailey withdrew, attorneys Mark Wilensky and Marc Goldstein were appointed special public defenders. (R. 22/3262; 23/3437-38). The attorneys represented Valdes for about one and one-half (1 1/2) years. During the last seven (7) months of their representation, Valdes filed and argued three (3) motions to

earlier, Valdes filed, in open court, a pro se motion and various supporting papers requesting the discharge of appointed attorneys, Craig A. Boudreau and Frederick Susaneck. (R. 8/1268; 26/4231-47). This was Valdes' second pro se motion to discharge these attorneys. (R. 26/3976-92).

According to Valdes' in-court statements and his pro se motion/papers, during a meeting at the Palm Beach County Jail with his appointed attorneys, Boudreau struck Valdes, bloodying his nose, and Susaneck threatened Valdes to silence. Valdes also cites "irreconcilable conflict", culminating in the above-mentioned altercation, as grounds for the removal of the appointed attorneys and explains that the cause of the altercation was Valdes' increasing dissatisfaction with his attorneys' "inaction", including the attorney's refusal to investigate Valdes' theory of the case, refusal to allow Valdes to participate in the preparation of his defense, and, refusal to question (include as witnesses) certain persons whom Valdes believed were instrumental to his defense. (R. 8/1198-1206; 26/3976-4003; 27/4231-71). At the Court's direction, Boudreau and Susaneck filed affidavits in response to Valdes' motion, denying the incident. (R. 8/1279-80; 26/4008-09, 4010-12).

At the "effective assistance" hearing on May 29, 1990, the State presented three witnesses, Deputies Smith and Allen, and Mr. McDaniels, the defense attorneys' investigator, in opposition to Valdes' claim of tortious conduct by his attorneys. (R. 8/1290-1303).

discharge/replace Wilensky and Goldstein. (R. 23/3578-81; 24/3591-94; 6/3437-38, 900-17; 7/1033-34, 1054-63 1080-1100). Valdes' motion was eventually granted (R. 7/1100), and Craig A. Boudreau and Frederick Susaneck were appointed as Valdes' special public defenders. (R. 25/3846-47; 7/1109-17).

According to Valdes, he was "constructively without counsel" at the hearing on his motion. (R. 8/1292). In a pro se motion directed to Chief Judge Daniel T. K. Hurley, Valdes requested the appointment of an attorney to represent him at the hearing on his motion to discharge. (R. 27/4259-65). The trial judge denied Valdes' request. (R. 8/1290-93).

Following the State's direct examination of Deputy Smith, the following colloquy occurred:

The Court: Cross?

Mr. Boudreau: Your Honor, we have no objection.

The Court: Mr. Valdes, do you have any questions

of the deputy?

The Defendant: I have no attorney representing me,

Your Honor. I object to the hearing. I object to the questions being posed by Mr. Geesey [the prosecutor] because the questions being asked are outside the

scope of [the deputy's] knowledge.

The Court: The Court will interpret Mr. Valdes' comments as

not wishing to ask [the deputy] any questions. (R.

8/1297).

When it came time to cross-examine Deputy Allen, the following

occurred:

The Court: Mr. Boudreau?

Mr. Boudreau: No question, Your Honor.

The Court: Mr. Valdes?

The Defendant: Your Honor, I again object to this hearing

on the form that it's taken that I am

without counsel. Of course, the attorneys have no questions, they are in the position where they are defending themselves and not myself.

The Court: Court once again takes Mr. Valdes' remarks and

interprets them as having no questions. (R.

8/1300-01).

When it came time to cross-examine McDaniels, the following

occurred:

The Court: Mr. Boudreau, Mr. Susaneck?

Mr. Boudreau: No questions.

The Court: Mr. Valdes?

The Defendant: You're going to sit there and fucking tell

them that lie? (R. 8/1303).

Following a brief recess, the trial judge stated: "Let the record reflect that the Defendant physically attacked the witness and the Court interpreted his action as having no further questions of this witness." (R. 8/1303).

The court instructed Valdes that he had a choice: Valdes could either behave in an appropriate manner and remain in the courtroom in full restraints or he would be removed from the courtroom to an adjoining room where he would listen to the proceedings via the court's sound system. Valdes stated that he considered the proceedings a "farce" and a "sham", and he was removed to the adjoining room. (R. 8/1304-05).

The same day, Boudreau and Susaneck filed a motion to withdraw. (R. 27/4273-74). Following the removal of Mr. Valdes from the courtroom,

the court inquired if Boudreau or Susaneck wished to present anything more, to which inquiry Boudreau responded as follows:

Yes, especially as it relates to our motion to withdraw. Also ties in with the fact that Mr. Valdes is now being held in another courtroom and absent from this court.

I have to object, Your Honor, for the purpose of this record to Mr. Valdes being absent from his own trial in another room....

If Mr. Valdes is continued to be placed in that room, I feel that would constitute an extreme prejudice on Mr. Valdes' case, Your Honor, all of us too, Your Honor, myself, as a lawyer, personally, and as an officer of this court.

I have a concern and that concern is, Your Honor, is that I am placed in the position of objecting to that. I have to be honest, I'm afraid of sitting at the table with him. I feel that, that I would be physically assaulted.

I think that ties into why I feel there is a conflict of interest here in this case because how can I on the one hand argue what the Court is doing, how can I fairly argue on behalf of him, what is happening? I am not going to defend him and it's going to deny him a fair trial and at the same time with a straight face, not tell this Court that I am concerned.

I am concerned here it may be at a later time, maybe an appellate record that further objection to that procedure going to be made and I would hope that what I have done here has at least preserved the record to the point that, appellate argument that arises out of this situation can be made.

Obviously, I feel it will be subjected on how I just colored my comments on the record. I do not want to bastardize my position in any way. I am trying to let the Court know how I

feel, as it relates to the motion to withdraw and everything.

(R. 8/1307-08).

The court denied both Valdes' motion to discharge and Boudreau and Susaneck's motion to withdraw. (R. 8/1309; 27/4276-77). As to Valdes' motion to discharge, the court stated that Valdes is incapable of representing himself and that his disruptive conduct precluded the court from conducting an inquiry under Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1988). The court grounded its denial of Valdes' motion to discharge on the strength of the State's evidence refuting Valdes' charges regarding his attorney's conduct and on the affidavit of Valdes' attorneys. (R. 8/1309). As to the attorneys' motion to withdraw, the court was "of the opinion" that even with new counsel, Valdes' "course of conduct to frustrate this Court and the trial...." would result in the same situation occurring six, eight months down the pipe...." (R. 8/1309-10). Boudreau requested, and the court so noted, that the record show that the attorneys continued their representation of Valdes under order of the Court. (R. 8/1311-12).

Valdes was absent from the courtroom during the remainder of the proceedings on May 29, 1990, and for all of the pre-trial/jury selection proceedings the next day.³

³ Boudreau and Susaneck lodged several objections to Valdes' absence from the courtroom on the ground that it precluded an attorney-client relationship. (R. 8/1310-11; 9/1344; 10/1430032).

Prior to bringing up the first group of prospective jurors,⁴ the Court brought Valdes back into the courtroom and asked him whether he would behave properly and not disrupt the proceedings. Valdes' responded as follows: "Your Honor, I object to these proceedings 'cause I am not represented by counsel." The court interpreted Valdes' response in the negative and ordered him removed from the courtroom. (R. 8/1318). The court inquired of Valdes regarding his behavior a second time on May 29, 1990, with the same result. (R. 8/1318-21).

Following the lunch recess on May 29, 1990, and before continuing the jury selection process, Susaneck noted that there were certain pro se motions and other communications from Valdes before the court. (R. 1346-49; 27/4252-72). The court summarily denied any pro se motions on the ground that Valdes had an attorney and was not designated as co-counsel. (R. 1346-47). The motions and notes were filed for the record. (R. 27/4255-72, 4275).

Prior to commencement of the jury selection process on the following day, the Court again inquired whether Valdes wished to be present in the courtroom. (R. 10/1430-31). Valdes responded to the court's inquiry as follows: "...Your Honor, I do not concur with anything that the attorneys have done thus far. I do not recognize them as my counsel." The court interpreted Valdes' response in the negative and he was removed from the courtroom. (R. 10/1431-32).

⁴ The initial jury panel was stricken on objection by defense counsel regarding the court's comment in its preliminary instructions on Valdes' absence from the courtroom. (R. 8/1324-43; 9/1341-42).

On the third day of the proceeding, Valdes was present and remained in the courtroom for the completion of the jury selection process and the trial. (R. 12/1670-71). The record reveals that Valdes appeared before the jury flanked by two deputies. (R. 12/1756-57).

Prior to denying the several motions concerning the appointed attorneys, the court did not ask Valdes or the attorneys about the preparation of the defense, the applicable law or the facts. Following Valdes' removal from the courtroom on May 29, 1990, he was brought back into court on three (3) occasions. At no time did the court discuss anything with Valdes, other than to ask Valdes if he intended to behave.

Boudreau and Susaneck were appointed to represent Valdes on August 1, 1989, by the Honorable Michael Miller. (R. 7/1103-08, 1109-17). At the first hearing, following their appointment, the attorneys stated the need for a continuance in light of the fact that trial was set to begin three months later, on November 6, 1989. (R. 25/3845). Judge Miller denied the motion and suggested the attorneys work nights and weekends. (R. 7/1119-20).

On October 6, 1989, Boudreau again argued a motion for a continuance before Judge Miller. (R. 8/1135-37; 25/3850-52). As a ground for the continuance, Boudreau stated that he was required to attend as "stand-by counsel" the first degree murder trial in the Amos case, in the event that Amos abandons his decision to proceed pro se and invokes his right to counsel. A heated discussion ensued between the Court and counsel, and the motion was denied. (R. 8/1135-37).

On October 31, 1989, Boudreau informed Judge Miller of a trial conflict with a 1986 case that was scheduled for retrial in early November "over a hung jury". (R. 8/1158-62). The motion was granted and Valdes' trial was reset for March of 1990. (R. 8/1169; 25/3867).

Under a refiled indictment,⁵ proceedings in Valdes' case commenced in January of 1990 before Judge Colbath. (R. 8/1174-79). In early February of 1990, Susaneck requested another continuance on the grounds that Boudreau was presently involved with trying the <u>Amos</u> case for a fourth time; that Boudreau had, in addition to <u>Amos</u>, another first degree murder case that was being tried for a third time; and that, in the middle of all of this, Boudreau had chicken pox. The motion was denied. (R. 8/118-89).

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