OCT 21 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By_

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,569

FRANK VALDES,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A- TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 656879 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUES I thorough III. The trial court conducted an adequate hearing regarding appellant's motion to dismiss counsel based on ineffective assistance of counsel. Appellant was well aware of his right to self representation. The trial court properly denied appellant's request for appointment of counsel regarding his motion to dismiss.

ISSUE IV and XX. These two issues are not properly preserved for appeal and therefore review by this Court is precluded. In any event, the trial court properly denied appellant's request to excuse two prospective jurors for cause.

ISSUE V. Following appellant's physical attack upon a state's witness the trial court did not abuse its discretion in removing appellant from the court until he was able to conduct himself in an appropriate manner.

ISSUE VI. Appellant was properly convicted of both felony murder and the underlying felony of robbery.

ISSUES VII and VIII. The State Attorney's Office did not err in charging appellant with armed robbery. The State Attorney's Office has the discretion to charge or not to charge a defendant with a particular crime. There was sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction for the underlying felony of armed robbery.

ISSUE IX. The trial court did not err in denying appellant's request to vacate the judgment of aggravated assault.

- 5 -

ISSUE X. The trial court properly denied appellant's request to vacate his conviction for aiding in an escape.

ISSUE XI. There was sufficient evidence to convict appellant of six counts of attempted first degree murder.

ISSUE XII. Simply because appellant's co-defendant was convicted of six counts of attempted manslaughter, does not render his attempted murder convictions fundamentally unfair.

ISSUES XIII through XV. Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase is not cognizable on direct appeal. Furthermore, appellant cannot demonstrate from the record where counsel was deficient.

ISSUE XVI. There was sufficient evidence to sustain a finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner.

ISSUE XVII. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to find as a mitigating factor that appellant was merely an accomplice. This Court's opinion that Van Poyck was a major player does not negate appellant's equal, active and willing participation.

ISSUE XIX. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to find the mitigating factor that appellant was acting under an emotional disturbance at the time of the murder.

ISSUE XXI. The trial court did not err in admitting into evidence Officer Gaglione's testimony. This issue is not

- 6 -

preserved for appeal as the grounds now raised on appeal were not raised at trial. Furthermore there was never any objection to the actual testimony, or any objection to the state's characterization of same. Any "weakness" in the testimony was certainly established on cross-examination.

ARGUMENT

(Appellant's Issues I through III restated).

AFTER CONDUCTING A FAIR AND ADEQUATE HEARING REGARDING HIS MOTION, THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS COUNSEL

Appellant claims that the trial court failed to conduct an adequate inquiry into all the reasons alleged in his motion to dismiss counsel. (R 4010-11). A review of the record demonstrates that the trial court was aware of his duty under <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 1071, 1073, <u>cert. denied</u>, 488 U.S. 871, 109 S.Ct. 185, 102 L.Ed. 2d 154 (1988) and made the proper inquiry. Based on the allegations presented it was clear that appellant was merely dissatisfied with counsel's strategy. (R 3976-92) As such appellant did not establish that he was receiving ineffective assistance of counsel. Appellant's motion was properly denied. <u>Bowden v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 225 (Fla. 1991).

On two prior occasions the trial court granted appellant's motion to dismiss counsel. (R 103-08, 822-25, 829-30, 841-69, 1080-82, 1100). Both times the trial court had to coax and prod appellant into stating his reasons. (R 103, 795, 810, 813, 825). After granting the second request for substitute counsel, appellant was told that he did not have a right to substitute counsel and if his actions persisted he would have to represent himself.² (905-06, 1136). Almost nine months later,

² The record belies appellant's contention that the trial court did not advise appellant of right to represent himself.

appellant again filed a motion to dismiss counsel. (R 1276). The trial court's denial of the third request for counsel gives rise to this issue on appeal.

Upon the filing of appellant's motion to dismiss counsel, the trial court conducted a hearing to allow appellant the opportunity to establish his claim. (R 1283, 1294). When asked to present his argument/reasons, appellant refused to answer or speak to the court. (R 1292). Appellant argued that he was entitled to counsel at the hearing to prove why he was entitled to new counsel. The state was then allowed to present evidence to rebut the specific charge that appellant's trial 1295 - 1302).³ (R committed a battery upon him. attorney Appellant refused to cross-examine any of the state's witness when invited to do so by the court. (R 1297, 1300, 1303). The trial court interpreted appellant's refusal as a desire not to question the witnesses. (R 1297). At one point, appellant physically attacked one of the state's witnesses forcing the judge to have him removed from the court room. (R 1301). Prior to resuming the proceedings, the trial court asked appellant if he could behave appropriately. Appellant was argumentative and called the judge an "asshole". (R 1304-05). The trial court was unable to further inquire of appellant based on appellant's own actions and obstructions. (R 1309-10). Based on what was presented, including the state's witnesses, defense counsels'

- 9 -

⁵ Trial counsel also submitted affidavits rebutting appellant's allegation. (R 4008-12).

affidavits, appellant's motion and case law, the judge denied appellant's motion. (R 1309-10). A review of the record supports the trial court's findings and ruling. (R 1203-06). The trial court also found that appellant:

> "has engaged in and embarked upon a purposeful and willful course of conduct to frutrate this Court and the trial of this case. And were this Court to grant either one of these two motions, it, the Court is of the opinion that six, eight months down the pipe, we would be faced with exactly the same situation. It just be different would counsel involved. Therefore, both of these motions are denied." (1309-10).

Appellant has failed to establish any error in the trial court's rulings. Ventura v. State, 560 So.2d 217, 220 (Fla. 1990); cert. denied, 111 S.Ct. 372, 112 L.Ed.2d 334 (1990). Capehart v. State, 583 So.2d 1009, 1014 (Fla. 1991) cert. denied, ____ U.S. __, 112 S.Ct. 955, 117 L.Ed.2d 122 (1992). Unlike the situation in Scull v. State, 533 So.2d 1137, 1140 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1037, 109 S.Ct. 1937, 104 L.Ed.2d 408 (1989), appellant had every opportunity to establish his claim including his allegations that counsel did not pursue various and strategies. leads Appellant chose not to do so. Furthermore, the trial court did advise appellant that selfrepresentation was an option. (R 905-06, 1136, 1200). Appellant made it very clear that he did not want to represent himself. (R 1136, 1200). The trial court conducted an adequate inquiry and properly denied appellant's motion. Koon v. State, 513 So.2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 1987); Hill v. State, 549 So.2d 179, 181 (Fla.

1989), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 485 U.S. 943, 108 S.Ct. 1124, 99 L.Ed.2d 284 (1988).

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in not reopening the issue regarding his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel once appellant decided to act appropriately in court. As conceded by appellant, the trial court was correct in removing appellant from the courtroom given his violent outburst. (R 1304-05). On at least four subsequent occasions, the trial court inquired of the appellant whether or not he is willing to behave in the appropriate manner and come back into the courtroom. (R 1311, 1319, 1349, 1430-32). Appellant was clearly told that he may at anytime advise the judge when he ready to conduct himself appropriately (R 1311). Given his explicit and continued refusal to be apart of the proceedings, the trial court's actions were appropriate and clearly within his discretion. <u>Illinois v. Allen</u>, 397 U.S. 337, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970).

Furthermore, appellant's absence from the courtroom did not preclude him from establishing his claim under <u>Hardwick</u>. It was appellant's refusal to discuss the motion and meet his burden of proof that resulted in the denial of his claim. (R 1292). He could have changed his mind at any time during that hearing to discuss and establish his claim. <u>Ventura</u>. Appellant was not removed from the courtroom until he had already decided not participate in the litigation of his own motion.(R 1303-05). Appellant's refusal to state his reasons to the court why counsel should be dismissed occurred during the hearing regarding that

- 11 -

motion on May 29, 1990. (R 1292). A review of the record illustrates that on May 30, 1990 during voir dire appellant was still absent from the court. (R 1663). Sometime on May 31, 1990, two days after the hearing was completed, appellant was then back in the courtroom. (R 1756). At that time the trial court was not required to ask appellant if now decided to articulate his reasons for filing the motion to dismiss cousel. Ventura. The time to do so was during the hearing held for that purpose. Since appellant chose not to do so, he waived his right to complain at a later date. See generally, Gunsby v. State, 574 So.2d 1085, 1088 (Fla. 1991) cert. denied, U.S. _, 112 S.Ct. 136, 116 (defendant waives right to challenge the L.Ed.2d 103 (1991), excusal of potential jurors for failing to make inquires during voir dire).

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in denying his request for counsel to represent him at the hearing. Appellant can site to no authority which requires appointment of counsel for such a proceeding. The trial court is required to inquire of the defendant as to the reasons why new counsel is To require "appointment of counsel" to required. Hardwick. issue regarding "appointment of counsel" "litigate" the exacerbates delay and renders moot any meaningful attempt to determine the legitimacy of the initial claim of ineffectiveness. Appellant was very capable of articulating on his own why he felt prior counsel, Goldstein and Wilensky, were ineffective. (R 822-61).

- 12 -

Furthermore there was no conflict of interest which would have warranted the appointment of independent counsel. Carried to its logical conclusion, appellant's argument would require the appointment of independent counsel every time a defendant does not get along with present counsel or he decides he does not like his current attorney. This is so because a conflict of interest is inherent in every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

There has been no showing that counsel was serving a dual and adverse interests as in <u>Bellos v. State</u>, 508 So.2d 1330 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991). Appellant's counsel did not attempt to represent Valdes during that portion of the hearing. Appellant was perfectly capable of cross-examining the witnesses if he so desired. Appellant has failed to demonstrate what an independent counsel would or could have done that appellant himself was incapable of doing. <u>See generally</u>, <u>Waterless v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1008, 1011-15 (Fla. 1992).

In conclusion the trial court properly denied appellant's motion to dismiss counsel. The procedure under which that determination was made was adequate under Hardwick.

- 13 -

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR CAUSE REGARDING TWO PROSPECTIVE JURORS

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in failing to excuse for cause two prospective jurors; Garko and Stezel. Garko was struck with a peremptory challenge (R 1766) and Stezel ultimately sat on the jury. (R 1779). Appellant never attempted to strike Stezel with a peremptory challenge.

Appellant is precluded from raising this issue as the ground for a cause challenge to excuse Stezel raised on appeal is different from the ground on which she was challenged at trial. At trial, appellant challenged Stezel twice based solely on pre-trial publicity regarding appellant's altercation with a witness. (R 1760-61, 1768). In this proceeding however, appellant claims that Stezel was predisposed to the death penalty. (A.B. 55-57). Since the grounds raised for exercising the challenges at trial are different from the grounds now asserted on appeal, appellant has failed to preserve this issue for appellate review. Hitchcock v. State, 578 So.2d 685, 689 n. 4 (Fla. 1990), judgement vacated on others grounds, 112 S.Ct. 3020, 120 L.Ed.2d 892 (1992); See Sapp v. State, 411 So.2d 363, 364 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

Since appellant is precluded from challenging juror Stezel's place on the jury, he is also precluded from challenging the trial court's denial for cause regarding Garko. As stated

- 14 -

above, Garko was struck with a peremptory challenge. (R 1766). Given the procedural default with respect to Stezel, appellant cannot now demonstrate which objectionable juror sat after exhausting all his peremptory challenges. <u>Penn v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1079, 1081 (Fla. 1991). Furthermore, after appellant struck Garko with his last remaining peremptory challenge, (R 1766) his request for additional peremptory challenges was not made in connection with any particular venireperson, consequently review is precluded regarding Garko. <u>Trotter v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 691, 693, n. 7 (Fla. 1990).

On the merits, the trial court's granting of a challenge for cause is within the trial court's discretion, and a denial of same will not be reversed on appeal unless the error is manifest. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla. 1986), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 473 U.S. 913, 105 S.Ct. 3540, 87 L.Ed.2d 663 (1985). As such the trial court did not abuse his discretion in refusing to strike for cause Garko and Stezel.

Contrary to appellant's assertions otherwise, a juror is not required to be free from opinion or bias. The test is whether that juror can lay aside any prejudice or bias and render a verdict solely on the evidence presented. <u>Hitchcock</u>, 578 So.2d at 688. A review of <u>all</u> of Stezel's responses demonstrate that she would be an impartial juror regardless of the fact that she favors the death penalty. In response to the question whether she would be able to weigh aggravating and mitigating factors Juror Stezel responded: I feel you have to have all the facts before you can make a decision one way or another. (R 1643).

After making the "objectionable" statement (R 1644), appellant's Stezel clearly and Stezel had an exchange where attornev indicated that she would not let her background influence her decision. (R 1647). She indicated that she would not lean one way or another not knowing the circumstances. (R 1647). She stated that she felt that she would need to weigh the facts and base her decision on the facts. (R 1646). Looking at all of Stezel's responses she made it clear that she would put aside her biases and base her decision on the facts. (R 1643-48). The trial court did not abuse his discretion in denying appellant's challenge for cause. Fitzpatrick v. State, 437 So.2d 1072, 1076 (1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1051, 104 S.Ct. 1328, 79 L.Ed.2d 723 (1984). If this Court determines that Stezel should have been excused for cause, appellee asserts that any error should be confined to the penalty phase only.

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